## S229762

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

McMILLIN ALBANY, LLC, et al.,

Petitioners.

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF KERN COUNTY,

Respondent,

CARL & SANDRA VAN TASSEL, et al.,

Real Parties in Interest.

Kern County Superior Court Case No. S-1500-CV-279141

Honorable David Lampe, Judge Presiding, Dept. 11

> SUPREME COURT FILED

> > OCT 0 6 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

From the Published Opinion of the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, 5<sup>th</sup> Civ. No. F069370



#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does Title Seven of the Civil Code, at section 895, et seq., commonly referred to as "SB800", preclude a homeowner from bringing common law causes of action for defective conditions in his or her home which have resulted in physical damage to the home?

2. Does SB800 require compliance with the statutory prelitigation procedure set forth at Civil Code section 910 et seq., if the homeowner does not state any claim for relief under SB800?

#### INTRODUCTION

Enacted in 2002, SB800 applies to all original construction sold as individual dwelling units or on or after January 1, 2003 (except for condominium conversions). (Cal. Civ. Code, sections 896 and 938.) The Legislature sought by enacting SB800 to streamline construction defect claims by adopting a uniform set of building standards and permitting homeowners to recover for violations of the standards, regardless of whether any physical damage had resulted to their home. SB800 also set up a prelitigation procedure, the purpose of which is to provide the builder with the opportunity to address claims brought under SB800 prior to the commencement of litigation by the homeowner. No one disputes the vast applicability of SB800 to essentially all California residences sold within the last 13 years, nor, consequentially, does anyone dispute its huge importance to Californians who seek to recover for defective conditions in their homes.

However, as a result of the decision of the Fifth District, there now exists a significant dispute between California Courts of Appeal in regards to two issues: first, to what extent homeowners are prohibited from stating *non-SB800* causes of action when seeking to recover for defects that have already

resulted in damage to their homes, and second, whether a homeowner who brings an action in which he or she states no claim under SB800 is nevertheless required to comply with the SB800 prelitigation procedure at Civil Code section 910, et seq.

In *Liberty Mutual Insurance Co. v. Brookfield Crystal Cove, LLC* (2013) 219 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 98, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that SB800 does not prevent homeowners from stating common law causes of action such as negligence and strict liability, provided that the homeowner bases his or her claim upon defects that have resulted in physical damage to the home. (*Id.* at pp, 104, 107, and 108-109.) The court also observed that in bringing such a claim, a homeowner is not required to comply with the SB800 prelitigation procedure. (*Id.* at p. 106.)

In *Burch v. Superior Court* (2014) 223 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1411, the Second District Court of Appeal discussed *Liberty Mutual* at length, adopting its reasoning, and applying its holding to reverse the trial court's grant of summary judgment as to the common law causes of action which had been brought therein by the plaintiff homeowner against the defendant builder. (*Id.* at pp. 1417-1418.)

In the present case, the Fifth District reached a result contrary to the holding in *Liberty Mutual* and *Burch* as to both the question of whether SB800 is the exclusive remedy for homeowners, and the question of whether the

SB800 prelitigation procedure applies in cases where the homeowner has not stated any cause of action under SB800. (Opinion, pp. 10 and 15.) The Fifth District stated that, "We ultimately reject [*Liberty Mutual*'s] reasoning and outcome . . . which we conclude are not consistent with the express language of the Act." (Opinion, pp. 8-9.)

This disagreement will inevitably spawn countless disputes between builders and homeowners as to these two fundamental issues concerning SB800. Unless this Court resolves the dispute between the Fifth District's opinion and *Liberty Mutual* and *Burch*, trial courts will not know which rule to follow, and builders and homeowners alike will have no way of knowing what law governs them in construction defect actions. Review is therefore warranted in order to bring much-needed clarity to an area of the law that affects many thousands of litigants and potential litigants statewide.

#### FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs are the owners of 37 homes constructed by defendants

McMillin Albany LLC, et al. (herein McMillin). (Opinion, p. 2.) Plaintiffs

brought an action against McMillin to recover for defective conditions in their

homes, and damage resulting therefrom. (Opinion, p. 2.) Plaintiffs stated eight

causes of action, including strict liability, negligence, and breach of express

and implied warranty. (Opinion, p. 2.) Plaintiffs initially stated a cause of

action for violation of the SB800 building standards (i.e., those set forth in Civil Code section 896), but later dismissed it. (Opinion, pp. 2-3.)

Plaintiffs did not provide notice to McMillin as specified under the SB800 prelitigation procedure at Civil Code section 910. (Opinion, p. 3.) McMillin moved to stay the action under Civil Code section 930(b), based upon the plaintiffs' failure to comply with the SB800 prelitigation procedure. (Opinion, p. 3.) The trial court denied McMillin's motion, finding that in the absence of any cause of action under SB800, the plaintiffs were not required to complete the SB800 prelitigation procedure, and McMillin therefore was not entitled to a stay. (Opinion, p. 3.)

McMillin sought writ relief. (Opinion, p. 3.) The Fifth District Court of Appeal granted McMillin's Petition for Writ of Mandate, directing the trial court to vacate and reverse its ruling. (Opinion, p. 20.) The plaintiffs did not file a petition for rehearing.

#### WHY THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW

The conflict between the Fifth District's opinion and the appellate authorities that preceded it is manifest and undeniable. This conflict is the primary reason why, if this Court does not grant plaintiffs' concurrent request to depublish the Court of Appeal's opinion, then it should grant review, in order so that homeowners, builders, and trial courts statewide will know what rules govern construction defect actions.

Additionally, the Fifth District's opinion is incoherent in myriad different respects, and thus gives rise to needless uncertainties, as further explained below. For this reason as well, review should be granted, in order so that trial courts and litigants are not saddled with the task of trying to resolve the many questions that are needlessly created by the Fifth District's opinion.

A. This Court Should Grant Review in Order to Resolve the

Conflict Between the Fifth District's Opinion and the Opinions

of Other Courts of Appeal in *Liberty Mutual* and *Burch* 

Primarily, this Court grants review "[w]hen necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important issue of law." (Cal. Rules of Ct., Rule 8.500(b)(1).) The need to secure uniformity can never be so clear as in a case like this one, where there are three published appellate opinions, and one of the three Courts of Appeal disagrees sharply with the other two on two fundamental and very significant points of law. These points of law must be settled--through a grant of review (if this Court denies plaintiffs' concurrent request for depublication)--in order to prevent widespread uncertainty as to the law in California governing residential construction defect actions.

### 1. The SB800 Building Standards and Prelitigation Procedure

As noted above, SB800 applies to most all residential real estate sold as individual dwelling units since 2003. (Cal. Civ. Code sections 896, 938.)

Prior to the enactment of SB800, construction defect actions had been

governed by the economic loss rule which, as set forth in *Aas v. Superior Court* (2000) 24 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 627, states that a plaintiff may not sue the builder of his or her home in tort for a defective condition unless the condition has caused physical damage to the home. (*Id.* at pp. 632, 636, 643, 647.)

SB800 sets forth a list of building standards in Civil Code section 896 which are "intended to address every component or function of a structure." (Cal. Civ. Code sec. 897.) A homeowner may recover for violation of any of the standards set forth in section 896, whether or not the violation has resulted in physical damage. (Cal. Civ. Code sections 896, 942.) The homeowner also need not demonstrate that the violation was caused by the builder, "provided that the violation arises out of, pertains to, or is related to, the original construction." (Cal. Civ. Code sec. 942.)

A homeowner may also pursue an action against a general contractor, subcontractor, or materials supplier for violation of the standards, but as to such person or entity SB800 does not eliminate any requirement for the homeowner to prove negligence or causation that would otherwise exist under the common law. (Cal. Civ. Code sec. 936.)

The amount of recovery that a homeowner may obtain is set forth in Civil Code sections 943 and 944. Section 944 entitles the homeowner, among other things, to the cost to repair any violations of the SB800 building standards, the cost to repair any damage resulting from violations of the SB800

building standards, and reasonable investigative costs for each established violation of the SB800 building standards. Section 943(b) defines the cost of repair for "nonconformities" occurring in a single family home as "the repair costs, or the diminution in value of the home caused by the nonconformity, whichever is less, subject to the personal use exception as developed under common law."

Before commencing an action for violation of the SB800 building standards, the homeowner is required to complete the prelitigation procedure set forth in Chapter 4 of SB800, at Civil Code section 910 through 938. The mandate to complete the procedure is found in section 910, which states in pertinent part that, "Prior to filing an action against any party alleged to have contributed to a violation of the standards set forth in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896), the claimant shall initiate the following procedures."

The procedure is intended as a precursor to an action specifically to enforce the SB800 building standards at Civil Code section 896. This is clear from the fact that section 910 and various other provisions in the prelitigation procedure (see, sections 916(a), 916(e), and 924) are all based upon claims of "violations of the standards" or of "unmet standards." Additionally, SB800 states at section 914(a) that, "This chapter establishes a nonadversarial procedure, including the remedies available under this chapter which, if the

procedure does not resolve the dispute between the parties, may result in a subsequent action to enforce the other chapters of this title." (Emph. added.)

Finally, if a homeowner is required to complete the prelitigation procedure under section 910, but commences a legal action without having first complied with the procedure, then section 930(b) entitles the builder to move for a stay of the action until the procedure has been completed.

#### 2. Liberty Mutual Insurance Co. v. Brookfield Crystal Cove LLC

In *Liberty Mutual*, *supra*, 219 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 98, the plaintiff insurer, Liberty Mutual, sought to recover from the defendant builder, Brookfield, in a subrogation action after the insurer paid the homeowner pursuant to the terms of a homeowner's policy. (*Id.* at p. 100.) Significant damage had been caused to the home by a plumbing defect that was covered by the building standards set forth in SB800. (*Id.* at p. 102.)

However, Liberty Mutual did not file its subrogation action until approximately seven years after the insured homeowner purchased had the home. (*Liberty Mutual* at p. 101.) This meant that any claim Liberty Mutual had under SB800 was time-barred by Civil Code section 896(e)'s four-year statute of limitations for plumbing defects. (*Id.* at p. 103.) Accordingly, the issue before the court was "whether Liberty Mutual's complaint in subrogation falls exclusively within the Right to Repair Act, and is therefore time-barred." (*Id.* at p. 102.)

The court found that even though the insurer's claim rested exclusively upon a defect that was covered by the SB800 building standards, the insurer was not limited to an action under SB800. After reviewing the legislative history of SB800, and the court stated:

Nowhere in the legislative history is there anything supporting a contention that the Right to Repair Act barred common law claims for actual property damage. Instead, the legislative history shows that the legislation was intended to grant statutory rights in cases where construction defects caused economic damage; the Act did nothing to limit claims for actual property damage. Simply put, a homeowner who suffers actual damages as a result of a construction defect in his or her house has a choice of remedies; nothing in the Act takes away those rights.

(Liberty Mutual, supra, at p. 104.)

The court reached this conclusion in part based upon the rule that a common law right cannot be legislated out of existence "[u]nless expressly provided," and for this reason statutes "should be construed to avoid conflict with common law rules." (*Liberty Mutual* at p. 105, quoting *California Association of Health Facilities v. Department of Health Services* (1997) 16 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 284, 297; see also *Fahlen v. Sutter Central Valley Hospitals* (2014) 58 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 655, 669 [for statute to be construed to abrogate the common law, "a legislative purpose to do so must clearly and unequivocally appear"].) Indeed, there must be "no rational basis" on which to harmonize the statute with the

common law rule that it purports to abrogate. (*Liberty Mutual* at p. 105, quoting *California Association of Health Facilities* at p. 297.)

Interpreting SB800 in such a way as to nullify the common-law right of homeowners to recover in tort for resulting damage would, as the *Liberty Mutual* court observed, be highly incompatible with the rigid time structure that is set up in SB800's prelitigation process. The *Liberty Mutual* court observed that the timelines relating to inspection and testing set forth in Civil Code section 917 "dramatically illustrate[] that the legislative intent in enacting the Act was to provide for identification and repair of construction defects before they cause actual damage to the structure or its components, not to provide the sole remedy to recover actual damages that have occurred as a result of construction defects." (*Liberty Mutual* at pp. 105-106.)

The *Liberty Mutual* court recognized that the SB800 timelines are incompatible with a sudden or developing loss that must be handled by the homeowner's insurer. It stated:

In the case of an actual catastrophic loss, the detailed timeframes would be unnecessary and nonsensical. If, as Brookfield argues, the Right to Repair Act applies to all claims involving construction defects regardless of actual damage, a homeowner whose property was severely damaged or destroyed would be required to await a solution during a lengthy process. As noted by the amicus curiae on behalf of Liberty Mutual, enforcement of a requirement of exclusive compliance with the notice provisions of the Act under those circumstances would effectively extinguish the subrogation rights of all homeowners' insurers who promptly cover their insureds'

catastrophic losses. There is nothing in the Act or in its legislative history that shows the Legislature intended to eliminate those subrogation rights.

(Liberty Mutual at p. 106.)

The court found that Civil Code sections 931 and 943 "disprove [the]contention that the Right to Repair Act was intended to provide the sole means for seeking redress for damages incurred due to any and all construction defects identified in the Act." (*Liberty Mutual* at p. 107.) The Court quoted section 943(a) in full, and then stated that it and section 931 "establish the Act itself acknowledges that other laws may apply to, and other remedies may be available for, construction defect claims, and therefore, that the Act is not the exclusive means for seeking redress when construction defects cause actual property damage." (*Id.* at p. 107.)

The court acknowledged that under Civil Code section 944, a homeowner can recover for actual damage caused by a violation of the building standards set forth in section 896. (*Liberty Mutual* at p. 107.) However, the court found that section 944's "inclusion of 'the reasonable cost of repairing and rectifying any damage resulting from the failure of the home to meet the standards' as part of the damages available for a violation of the Right to Repair Act does not mean that such actual damages may only be recovered by a claim under the Act." (*Id.* at p. 107.)

Finally, the *Liberty Mutual* court stated its holding:

For all these reasons, Civil Code section 896 does not provide an exclusive remedy, as Brookfield argues. By creating a remedy for a particular cause of action, the Right to Repair Act does not expressly or impliedly support an argument that it mandates an exclusive remedy, and certainly does not derogate common law claims otherwise recognized by law. [Citation.] ¶ Based on the foregoing analysis of the language of the Right to Repair Act and its legislative history, we hold the Act does not provide the exclusive remedy in cases where actual damage has occurred because of construction defects.

(Liberty Mutual at pp. 108-109.)

#### 3. Burch v. Superior Court

In *Burch v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 223 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1411, the court applied the rule in *Liberty Mutual* to a construction defect claim that did not involve a catastrophic loss or a subrogation claim by an insurer. (*Id.* at p. 1414.) *Burch* involved a homeowner like the plaintiffs herein, who sued the builder of her home, claiming that the home "suffered from numerous construction defects." (*Id.* at pp. 1414.)

The court in *Burch* stated, "*Liberty Mutual* examined the act and its legislative history and concluded that the act does not provide an exclusive remedy and does not limit or preclude common law damages claims for damages for construction defects that have caused property damage. . . . We agree." (*Burch* at p. 1418.)

On this basis, the court reversed the trial court's order granting summary adjudication of the plaintiff's claims for negligence and breach of implied warranty. (*Id.* at p. 1418.) The court concluded:

Burch alleged in her second count for negligence in her third amended complaint that the defendants breached their duty of care resulting in deficient construction, including but not limited to specified defects that caused property damage. She alleged in her third count for breach of implied warranty that the defendants breached an implied warranty with respect to the construction. Both counts allege common law claims for damages for construction defects, including defects allegedly resulting in property damage. We conclude that the Right to Repair Act does not preclude such common law claims and that the summary adjudication of the second and third counts on this basis was error.

(Burch at p. 1418.)

#### 4. The Opinion of the Fifth District

The Fifth District's opinion sharply disagrees with the two authorities discussed above in regards to the permissibility of non-SB800 causes of action, and the applicability of the prelitigation procedure in instances where the homeowner has stated only non-SB800 causes of action.

#### Whether SB800 Is an Exclusive Remedy for Homeowners

The present matter is not unlike *Burch*, in that it arose in the context of a law and motion matter in an action involving numerous defect allegations by the plaintiffs. However, unlike *Burch*, the proceeding in the present case was not a dispositive motion concerning the validity of plaintiffs' common law

causes of action. Instead it was a motion to stay, brought under Civil Code section 930(b). (Opinion, p. 3.) Indeed, in its opinion, the Fifth District states, "We agree with real parties that the only issue before the court is whether McMillin's motion for a stay pending completion of the prelitigation procedures of Chapter 4 was properly denied." (Opinion, p. 8.)

However, the Fifth District finds that in order to answer this question, it must "consider the scope of the Act and to what claims the requirements of the Act, in particular the prelitigation procedures of Chapter 4, apply." (Opinion, p. 8.) The Fifth District then makes the following general statement expressing its disagreement with *Liberty Mutual*:

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