Case No. S229762

rialik A	. IVICOUNT	
<u>,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,</u>	Deputy	

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

## McMILLIN ALBANY, LLC, et al. Petitioners,

v.

### SUPERIOR COURT OF KERN COUNTY, Respondent.

CARL & SANDRA VAN TASSEL, et al., Real Parties in Interest.

Kern County Superior Court Case No. S-1500-CV-279141 Honorable David R. Lampe, Presiding Judge, Dept. 11

From the Published Opinion of the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District Civil Case No. F069370

### McMILLIN'S ANSWER TO REAL PARTIES' PETITION FOR REVIEW

BORTON PETRINI, LLP
Calvin R. Stead (State Bar No. 129358)
\*Andrew M. Morgan, (State Bar No. 266833)

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

McMillin agrees that as a result of the Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion in this case ("McMillin Albany") there is a conflict among the Districts of the Court of Appeal as to whether SB800 (Civil Code §§ 895 et seq.) provides the exclusive remedy (precluding common law causes of action), "except as specifically set forth" therein, for residential construction defects in homes purchased after January 1, 2003, which is the first issue presented by Real Parties' Petition for Review. However, there is no need to grant review in order to resolve any confusion that may result from the contradictory case law. The most judicially efficient path to resolution of the conflicting holdings, which will also have the incidental effect of imposing the correct law throughout the state, is to deny review of McMillin Albany, allowing it to remain published, while simultaneously depublishing Liberty Mutual and Burch under this Court's inherent power to do so articulated in California Rule of Court ("CRC") 8.1125(c)(2) and as described in People v. Saunders (1993) 5 Cal.4th 580, 607-608.

If the Court elects to grant review, it should also (1) order that *McMillin Albany* remain published under CRC 8.1105(e)(1), (2) under CRC 8.1125(c)(2) and as described in *People v. Saunders* (1993) 5 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 580, 607-608, depublish *Liberty Mutual* and *Burch* pending a final ruling in this case, and (3) clarify what is within the scope of the Court's review, given that Real Parties' "Issues Presented" as written could be construed too narrowly.

#### II. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

McMillin generally agrees with the "Factual and Procedural Background" section of Real Parties' Petition for Review.

The complete text of the trial court order from which this writ proceeding arises is as follows:

"IT IS ORDERED that Defendant's Motion to Stay is Denied. Pursuant to Liberty Mutual Insurance Co. v. Brookfield Crystal Cove, LLC (2013) 219 Cal.App.4th 98, the Plaintiffs are entitled to plead common law causes of action in lieu of a cause of action for violation of building standards set forth in Civil Code § 896 et seq. ("SB 800"). Plaintiffs need not submit to the SB 800 prelitigation process when their Complaint does not assert claims for violations of SB 800 standards. [¶] The Court also

acknowledges that its ruling here involves a controlling question of law as to which there are substantial grounds for difference of opinion, appellate resolution of which may materially advance the conclusion of this litigation. (See Code Civ. Proc. § 166.1.)"

A complete list of the causes of action in Real Parties' complaint, before the SB800 cause of action was unilaterally dismissed by Real Parties, is as follows: Strict Products Liability; Strict Products Liability (Component Products); Violation of Building Standards as Set Forth in California Civil Code § 896; Breach of Implied Warranty (Merchantability); Breach of Contract; Negligence; Breach of Express Warranty; and Violation of Statute.

# III. SUMMARY OF THE CONFLICT IN LAW AMONG THE DISTRICTS OF THE COURT OF APPEAL AND THE EFFECT OF LIBERTY MUTUAL'S HOLDING ON TRIAL COURTS AND BUILDERS THROUGHOUT THE STATE, BEFORE McMILLIN ALBANY

McMillin does not deny that as a result of the Fifth District's McMillin Albany opinion (McMillin Albany LLC v. Superior Court (2015) 239 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1132 ("McMillin Albany")) there exists a conflict of case law with the Fourth and Second Districts, Liberty Mutual Insurance Company v. Brookfield Crystal Cove (2013) 219 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 98 ("Liberty

Mutual") and Burch v. Superior Court (2014) 223 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1411 ("Burch"), respectively.

McMillin Albany holds that because a cause of action for violation of the building standards found in SB800's Chapter 2 (§§ 896 and 8971) is the exclusive remedy for residential construction defects, no other causes of action, including common law causes of action, are permissible, except where specifically set forth in Title 7, and homeowners are consequently obligated to comply with SB800's prelitigation inspection and repair procedures under section 910 et seq., even where the plaintiffs' complaint does not contain a cause of action for violations of SB800's Chapter 2 building standards. (McMillin Albany, 239 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1132, 1146, 1149.) The Fourth and Second Districts hold that SB800 does not provide the exclusive remedy for residential construction defects, i.e. that common law causes of action are permitted. (Liberty Mutual, 219 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 98, 109; Burch, 223 Cal.App.4th 1411, 1418.) Real Parties' first "Issue Presented" seeks to address this conflict in law. (Real Parties' Petition for Review ("Petition") at 1.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All statutory citations are to the Civil Code unless otherwise indicated.

Ostensibly, there is no conflict among the Districts of the Court of Appeal as to as to Real Parties' second issue: Whether SB800 requires a homeowner to comply with its prelitigation inspection and repair procedures where that homeowner does not "state a claim for relief under SB800," i.e. where the homeowner does not explicitly state a cause of action for violations of SB800's building standards contained in Chapter 2 (§§ 896 and 897.) This is because the Fifth District in this case is the only District in the Court of Appeal that has passed upon that specific issue. (McMillin Albany, 239 Cal.App.4th 1132, 1139, "McMillin's writ petition presents an issue of first impression . . . . ") In neither Liberty Mutual nor Burch was the builder attempting to force the homeowner to comply with SB800's prelitigation inspection and repair procedures, and, consequently, it is impossible that either of those cases explicitly held anything with respect to a homeowner's obligation to engage in or builder's right to enforce that prelitigation process. (See Baeza v. Superior Court (2011) 201 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1214, 1228, "It is axiomatic that cases are not authority for propositions not considered.")

However, as is correctly explained by *McMillin Albany*, the holdings of *Liberty Mutual* and *Burch* had a direct and detrimental effect on

McMillin's and all other builders' attempts to enforce their "absolute right" to SB800's prelitigation inspection and repair process. (McMillin Albany, 239 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1132, 1137, 1140-1141.) As the result of Liberty Mutual and Burch allowing homeowners to plead common law causes of action instead of limiting homeowners to a cause of action for violations of SB800's building standards in Chapter 2, Real Parties in this case and homeowners around the state took the position that they were not obligated to engage in the prelitigation process. (McMillin Albany, 239 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1132, 1137, 1140-1141.) Their position was based on the language of SB800's section 910, which requires compliance with the prelitigation procedures only where "any party is alleged to have contributed to a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Enforcement of SB800's prelitigation procedures has been consistently described as and held to be a builder's "absolute right," as long as the builder has complied with the notice and recording requirements in section 912. (Rosen v. State Farm General Ins. Co. (2003) 30 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 1070, 1079; Anders v. Superior Court (2011) 192 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 579, 590-591; McCaffrey Group, Inc. v. Superior Court (2014) 224 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1330, 1345-1346; McMillin Albany LLC v. Superior Court (2015) 239 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1132, 1150; Assem. Com. On Judiciary, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 800 (2001-2002 Reg. Sess.) as amended Aug 26, 2002, p. 1; Sen. Com. On Judiciary, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 800 (2001-2002 Reg. Sess.) as amended Aug. 28, 2002, p. 4; and see generally Standard Pacific Corp. v. Superior Court (2009) 176 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 828.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For an in depth assessment of this detrimental impact, see the amicus letters filed in this action by the CBIA, LBA, BILD and CALPASC in opposition to Real Parties' Request for Depublication of *McMillin Albany*.

violation of the standards set forth in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 896)." Real Parties' argument is simply that if no party is explicitly alleged by the homeowners to have violated any standard in SB800's Chapter 2 (§§ 896 and 897), then, under section 910, Real Parties are not obligated to engage in the prelitigation process, and McMillin is not entitled to stay the litigation for completion of the prelitigation process.

Since, prior to *McMillin Albany*, *Liberty Mutual* and *Burch* were the only published appellate decisions, trial courts, such as the Respondent Trial Court in this case, were obliged to follow their holdings, which resulted in builders like McMillin losing motions to stay for completion of the prelitigation process. (*McMillin Albany*, 239 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1132, 1137, 1140-1141.)

The problem is that the holdings of *Liberty Mutual* and *Burch* are wrong. And because they are wrong, they led the trial courts across the state, and in this case, to deny builders their "absolute right" to the prelitigation inspection and repair process. (*Id.*) Based on the language of the SB800 code sections alone, SB800 does, and was clearly intended to, abrogate common law causes of action and otherwise provide the exclusive remedy for residential construction defects in homes purchased after

January 1, 2003, except as specifically set forth in Title 7. (*McMillin Albany*, 239 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1132, 1141-1143, 1145-1146.). This means that common law causes of action, such as those pleaded by the homeowners in this case, are impermissible and cannot serve as the basis to avoid enforcement of the prelitigation procedures. (*Id.*)

McMillin Albany, like the Respondent Trial Court, which reluctantly denied McMillin's motion to stay and sua sponte issued a Code of Civil Procedure section 166.1 statement (id. at 1140-1141), understood that in order to fairly and accurately consider the question whether McMillin was entitled to the stay, the court first necessarily had to answer the question whether SB800 is the exclusive remedy for residential construction defect claims. (Id.; see also Shulman v. Group W Productions Inc. (1998) 18 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 200, FN13, finding it "necessary" to address a particular point "in order to state and decide fairly and accurately the legal questions inherent in the case.") If it is the exclusive remedy, then Real Parties cannot control whether McMillin could enforce its "absolute right" to the prelitigation procedures. If it is not the exclusive remedy, then Real Parties can simply plead common law causes of action and avoid altogether McMillin's

(suddenly ironically described) "absolute right" to the prelitigation procedures.

### IV. WHY THIS COURT SHOULD NOT GRANT REVIEW

## A. The Conflict of Law Can Be Resolved through this Court's Authority to Depublish *Liberty Mutual* and *Burch*

Real Parties argue that because of the conflict of law described above, this Court should grant review to resolve the discrepancy. McMillin agrees that resolving the conflict in law is of paramount importance, but does not agree that review needs to be granted in order to do so. This Court has authority to resolve the conflict by denying review in this case, allowing *McMillin Albany* to remain published, and simultaneously depublishing *Liberty Mutual* and *Burch*.

California Rule of Court 8.1125(c)(2) states "The Supreme Court may order an opinion depublished on its own motion, notifying the rendering court of its action." In her dissent in *People v. Saunders* Justice Kennard describes an instance in which this Court exercised this inherent authority. (*People v. Saunders* (1993) 5 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 580, 607-608 ("Saunders").) Each of the following cases described below addressed whether jeopardy attached to the issue of the truth of a prior conviction

enhancement allegation, preventing the enhancement from being imposed, on double jeopardy grounds, if the jury was mistakenly discharged before the enhancement allegation was tried. (*Id.* at 607.)

In 1984 the First Appellate District certified for publication *People* v. Wojahn (1984) 150 Cal.App.3d 1024, 1032-1035 ("Wojahn"), which held that jeopardy attached. This Court denied review of the Wojahn decision on March 21, 1984. (See Saunders at 607.)

"[I]n 1989 the Courts of Appeal issued decisions contrary to Wojahn in People v. Laury . . . and People v. Casillas . . . ." (Saunders at 607.) This Court denied review of the Laury opinion in 1989; a petition for review was not filed in Casillas. (Id.)

In 1990 "a Court of Appeal decided *People v. Hockersmith* (1990) 217 Cal.App.3d 968 . . . . The decision in *Hockersmith* adhered to the *Wojahn* holding and criticized the decision in both *Laury* and *Casillas*. (217 Cal.App.3d at pp. 973-975 . . . .) (*Saunders* at 607.)

"Then, at one fell swoop on April 26, 1990 the Supreme Court denied review in *Hockersmith* and depublished both *Casillas* and *Laury*, which had long since become final and were not even before the court. This [left] *Hockersmith* as the only published post-*Wojahn* opinion."

(Saunders at 607-608, quoting People v. Dee (1990) 222 Cal.App.3d 760, 763.)

In highlighting that this Court has the authority to act under CRC 8.1125(c)(2) as it did with the *Hockersmith* line of decisions, by denying review of *McMillin Albany* and simultaneously depublishing *Liberty Mutual* and *Burch*, McMillin also recognizes Justice Kennard was dissenting in *Saunders*, and that *Hockersmith* and *Wojahn* were disapproved by the majority in the *Saunders* opinion. McMillin cites to Justice Kennard's depublication history of the *Hockersmith* line of cases only to provide an example of what the Court has done in the past and to show that it has the authority to do it.

While it is true that the practical effect of denying review in this case and depublishing *Liberty Mutual* and *Burch* would unequivocally impose *McMillin Albany's* holding on trial courts across the state, with equal regard, McMillin also recognizes that the California Rules of Court dictate that a Supreme Court order to publish or depublish is not an expression of the Court's opinion of the correctness of the result of the decision or of any law stated in the opinion. (CRC 8.1120(d) and 8.1125(d); see also *Saunders* at FN8, "[Justice Kennard's] dissent errs in concluding that by denying

review in some cases and ordering depublication of the opinions in others, this court 'endorsed' the decision in *Wojahn*.")

However, because there are no criterion provided by any authoritative source regarding why a case should or should not be depublished or be allowed to remain published by this Court<sup>4</sup>, when faced with the task of either requesting depublication or opposing it, the parties are left with no choice but to argue the merits of the Court of Appeal's opinion, in spite of knowing full-well that this Court's action in response to those arguments will not express the Court's opinion of the correctness of the result or of any law stated therein.

Finding itself in this predicament:

(1) McMillin simply attempts here to bring to the Court's attention that it has as much authority to depublish *Liberty Mutual* and *Burch* on its own motion under CRC 8.1125(c)(2) as it does to depublish *McMillin* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> It is true that CRC 8.1105(c) provides nine factors to be considered when a Court of Appeal's opinion "should be certified for publication in the Official Reports," but, even on the face of that Rule, those factors do not give any guidance at all regarding when or under what circumstances a Court of Appeal's opinion that has or has not been certified for publication might qualify for depublication or publication by this Court. That being said, McMillin Albany easily qualifies for at least seven of the nine factors. A description of how McMillin Albany qualifies can be found in any one of the many letters filed in opposition to Real Parties' Request to Depublish McMillin Albany.

Albany pursuant to Real Parties request under 8.1125(c)(1). That the Liberty Mutual and Burch decisions have been final and published for a longer period of time than McMillin Albany is no reason for this Court to allow them greater deference. "[T]he mere fact that an error has been committed is no reason or even apology for repeating it, much less for perpetuating it." (Hart v. Burnett (1860) 15 C. 530, 600.)

(2) McMillin argues that this Court should deny review of McMillin Albany, allowing it to remain published, as it reaches the correct result based on correct and proper reasoning, and that the Court should simultaneously depublish Liberty Mutual and Burch because they were wrongly decided.

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